WHITE 1992 27 SUPPEME COURT CLE ₿y **Chief Debuty Clerk** 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MANUEL MUNOZ

Petitioner,

.10-8-92

vs.

CASE NO: 78,900 DCA NO: 91-00008

STATE OF FLORIDA

Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

McCAULEY & PETERS ATTORNEYS AT LAW ALVYN L. PETERS Florida Bar ID# 0473030 6 Oak Avenue Panama City, Florida 32401 (904) 769-0276

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

##

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Manuel Munoz, was the appellee at the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant at trial. Petitioner will be referred to as Mr. Munoz. The State of Florida is now the respondent. Reference to the record on appeal will be referred to by the letter "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis. Reference to the Appendix will be made with the letter "A" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

vii

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

26, 1990, the state On June filed an information charging Mr. Munoz with two counts of sale or distribution of harmful materials to a person under 18 years of age, in violation of Florida Statute Section 847.012. (R.21) After depositions and discovery, Mr. Munoz filed his sworn motion to dismiss in accordance with Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.190 (c)(4) The state did not file a traverse. Applying the objective tests for entrapment established in Cruz v. State, 465 So.2d 516 (Fla.), cert. denied, 473 U.S. 905, 105 S.Ct. 3527, 87 L.Ed.2d 652 (1985), the trial court dismissed the information on the basis of entrapment as a matter of law. (R.203-204)

The state appealed the trial court's dismissal to the First District Court of Appeal. On October 8, 1991, a panel of the First District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's dismissal. Relying on precedent from the Third District Court

of Appeal, <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 1346 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) and from the Fourth District Court of Appeal, <u>Krajewski v. State</u>, 587 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>quashed on other grounds</u>, 589 So.2d 254 (Fla. 1991), the First District concluded that enactment of section 777.201, Florida Statutes (1987) abolished the objective entrapment tests set forth in <u>Cruz</u>.

In petitioner's jurisdictional brief, petitioner pointed out the ongoing conflict between the districts and that the Fourth District had decided, in light of <u>State v. Hunter</u>, 586 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1991), to recede from its position in <u>Krajewski</u>. <u>See Strickland v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 269 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). In the state's jurisdictional brief, the state agreed that the Florida Supreme Court should exercise jurisdiction.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Munoz is the owner and manager of the Video Den, a video store located in Panama City, Florida. (R.173) As a a control measure, Mr. Munoz maintains a separate room for X-rated videos. (R.174) It is also explicitly posted that no person under the age of 18 is allowed to enter this room. (R.174)

In order to rent a video at Mr. Munoz's store, a person must either become a member or present a driver's license reflecting at least 18 years of age and a work and home phone number. To become a member, an applicant must show a driver's license verifying his or her age as at least 18 years old. For a member, normally, no additional identification is required at the time of the rental transaction because the member's age and address are maintained on the store's computer records upon issuance of the membership card. this (R.174)Prior to investigation, law enforcement lacked any information to indicate that the criminal renting

of an X-rated video to a minor had ever occurred at the Video Den. (R.176)

This entire investigation sprung from an anonymous complaint regarding an unrelated video store known as "Top Banana." (R.175) This complaint to officer Dale Smith of the Bay County Sheriff's Office alleged that minors were able to enter the Top Banana store and obtain an X-rated video without any membership card. (R.175) In response, Dale Smith contacted a young woman, Patricia Smith, who was almost 17 years old and who had recently been arrested for negotiating the purchase of a pound of marijuana. (R.104-105) Initially, Dale Smith instructed his juvenile informant, Patricia Smith, to purchase an X-rated video at Top Banana. (R.140) order to make the outright purchase, In no membership card was required. (R.140)

Following this initial investigation, however, Dale Smith decided to spread the investigation to other selected video stores in Bay County that rented X-rated movies. (R.175) In fact, the Video

Den only came to the attention of Dale Smith after he used the Yellow Pages in the telephone book to ascertain if the Video Den rented X-rated movies. (R.175) To further his investigation, Dale Smith obtained a false membership card using the fictitious name of Brian Jackson and providing the Video Den with fake addresses and phone numbers. (R.175) The age reflected on Dale Smith, a/k/a Brian Jackson's membership card was 34 years old. (R.176)

Officer Smith provided this membership card to his juvenile informant, Patricia Smith, with instructions for her to enter the Video Den and obtain an X-rated movie. (R.175) Officer Smith instructed Patricia Smith to lie about her age and further to lie about her relationship with Brian Jackson, the fictitious name used by officer Smith in obtaining the membership. Patricia Smith was instructed to mislead any clerk who inquired about her relationship with Brian Jackson and to indicate that she was either the sister or girlfriend of the

34 year old Brian Jackson. (R.175-176)

On March 16, 1990, Patricia Smith obtained an X-rated video from the adults only room and presented Brian Jackson's membership card at the cash register. (R.110) At this point, Patricia Smith explained to the clerk, later identified as Mr. Munoz, that she was the girlfriend of the 34 year old Brian Jackson. (R.111)

On April 7, 1990, Patricia Smith again entered the Video Den and presented Brian Jackson's membership card along with two X-rated movies. On this occasion, Mr Munoz asked her age and she lied. Patricia Smith further explained that she had walked to the store and forgotten her driver's license. She further insisted she had rented (R.113-114) these movies on previous occasions. (R.114)Finally, Patricia Smith again claimed to be either the girlfriend or sister of the 34 year old Brian Jackson. (R.111,114) It is undisputed that Patricia Smith appears mature beyond her years and that many people consider her to be at least 18 years of age

or older. (R.176)

It is undisputed that Dale Smith, the case agent for the video sting operation, and the Bay County Sheriff's Office had not received any complaints regarding the sale or rental of sexually explicit videos to minors by individuals at the Video Den. (R.174) More specifically, it is undisputed that law enforcement lacked any information indicating the ability of juveniles to use an adult member's card to obtain X-rated videos at the Video Den. (R.176)

In his uncontroverted motion to dismiss, Mr. Munoz states that he has never knowingly rented a sexually explicit video to a minor. (R.173) Dale Smith acknowledged at the commencement of his investigation that he was not aware of <u>any</u> ongoing criminal activity at the Video Den. (R.176) At no point did it occur to Dale Smith to structure the investigation so that Patricia Smith would attempt to obtain the membership card in her own right. (R.176)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Fundamental values of fairness and judicial integrity have long caused courts a deeply held aversion to police-created criminal activity. Using various terminology such as objective entrapment, due process, judicial integrity or fundamental fairness, courts have universally recognized an outer limit on the ability of law enforcement to create criminal behavior where there otherwise was none.

In Florida, the Supreme Court has articulated this outer limit of police tactics under the rubric of objective entrapment. The Supreme Court has specifically prohibited "virtue testing" and has further required law enforcement to use reasonably tailored tactics that risk ensnaring otherwise innocence of citizens. In Florida, objective entrapment owes its existence to Florida's due process clause and basic values of judicial integrity. Florida's constitutional right to

privacy also suggests a constitutional prohibition against government-created crimes.

Section 777.201, Florida Statutes (1987) does not explicitly abrogate the doctrine of objective entrapment. Objective and subjective forms of entrapment may co-exist. To the extent any conflict exists between section 777.201, Florida Statutes and the doctrine of objective entrapment, it must be recognized that a judicially imposed outer limit on government-created crime will remain. In this regard, the <u>Cruz</u> test functions well as a clearly understood guide for law enforcement and trial courts.

The circumstances of Mr. Munoz's investigation are so egregious that the trial court was well within its authority to grand the uncontroverted motion to dismiss. For these reasons, the First District Court of Appeal's decision should be reversed and the trial court's decision should be reinstated.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## MAY A FLORIDA TRIAL COURT GRANT AN UNCONTROVERTED MOTION TO DISMISS ON THE BASIS OF OBJECTIVE ENTRAPMENT?

I. HISTORICAL BACKGROUND OF ENTRAPMENT

In the 20th Century, a considerable amount of judicial time and energy has been devoted to the analysis of the entrapment defense. Without a single guiding principle, the law of entrapment varies greatly from state to state and in the federal system.

On the one hand, courts do not want to restrict law enforcement from aggressive and effective investigative techniques. On the other hand, as Judge Learned Hand observed in 1933, there is "a spontaneous moral revulsion" against using the powers of government to beguile the innocent "into lapses they might otherwise resist." <u>United States</u> <u>v. Becker</u>, 62 F.2d 1007,1009 (2d Cir. 1933). In

<u>10</u>

other words, as the Mississippi Supreme Court has opined in a somewhat more colloquial fashion, "he who gets in the gutter with the skunk is soon indistinguishable." <u>Tanner v. State</u>, 566 So.2d 1246 (Miss. 1990).

Throughout the jurisprudence of entrapment, the underlying concern is that government should not create or improperly induce criminal activity. Also implicit in this focus on governmental conduct is the concept that government should not bring the full force of its investigative power and possible enticements to bear against the ordinary citizen without some articulable reason. Analysis that focuses on the governmental misconduct is commonly referred to as objective entrapment.

In tension with this approach is the doctrine of subjective entrapment. Although subjective entrapment is also concerned with government-created crime, subjective entrapment focuses on the predisposition of the targeted person.

<u>11</u>

In practical terms, both objective and subjective entrapment may lead to difficult issues. In the face of ignoble governmental conduct, objective entrapment may set the confirmed criminal free. Subjective entrapment, however, seemingly condones governmental misconduct if the prosecution can point to some evidence of the targeted person's predilection for criminal behavior.

## A. Federal Case History

The United States Supreme Court first addressed entrapment in <u>Sorrells v. United States</u>, 287 U.S. 435, 53 S.Ct. 210, 77 L.Ed. 413 (1932). In <u>Sorrells</u>, an undercover prohibition agent befriended a fellow World War I veteran and made three requests for the defendant to provide him some liquor. It appears Mr. Sorrells was not an alcoholic, had never missed work and there was no evidence that he had ever possessed or sold liquor. The Court condemned the undercover agent's use of "sentiment aroused by reminiscences of their experiences as companions in

<u>12</u>

arms in the World War." 287 U.S. at 441, 53 S.Ct. at 212.

In reversing the defendant's conviction, the <u>Sorrells</u> Court reasoned that Congress had not intended the Prohibition Act to permit government investigators to instigate criminal acts by "persons otherwise innocent." 287 U.S. at 448, 53 S.Ct. at 215. According to <u>Sorrells</u>, it is "a traditional and appropriate function of the courts" to "construe statutes so as to avoid absurd or glaringly unjust results." 287 U.S. at 450, 53 S.Ct. at 216.

In his concurring opinion, Justice Roberts framed the objective-subjective entrapment debate that has fractured federal entrapment jurisprudence ever since. Justice Roberts grounded the defense of entrapment

> on a fundamental rule of public policy. The protection of its own functions and the preservation of the purity of its own temple belongs only to the court. It is the province of the court and of the court alone to protect itself and the government from such prostitution of the criminal law. 287 U.S. at 457, 53 S.Ct. at 218.

> > <u>13</u>

In the view of Justice Roberts, entrapment was a matter of law for the courts to decide without regard to the "demerits of the defendant or his previous infractions." 287 U.S. at 458, 53 S.Ct. at 219. In those instances, where a defendant has committed a crime "only because of instigation and inducement by a government officer" entrapment exists as a matter of law and the integrity of the judiciary requires dismissal. 287 U.S. at 459, 53 S.Ct. at 219.

In <u>Sherman v. United States</u>, 356 U.S. 369, 78 S.Ct. 819, 2 L.Ed.2d 848 (1958), the United States Supreme Court reversed a conviction for sale of marijuana and instructed the lower court to dismiss the indictment. In <u>Sherman</u>, the informant and the defendant met at a doctor's office where they were both being treated for narcotics addiction. After several requests, the defendant provided the informant a quantity of narcotics. Despite his conviction by the jury, the Supreme Court ruled as a matter of law that the defendant's two prior

<u>14</u>

narcotics convictions were insufficient to prove predisposition. 356 U.S. at 375, 78 S.Ct. at 822. In a five to four decision, the majority refused to adopt the objective entrapment analysis of Justice Roberts in <u>Sorrells</u>.

Justice Frankfurter, however, eloquently propounded the intellectual and judicial basis of In Justice the objective entrapment doctrine. Frankfurter's view, the crucial question was not the defendant's prior history but "whether the police conduct . . . falls below standards, to which common feelings respond for the proper use of governmental power." 356 U.S. at 382, 78 S.Ct. at 825. Without citing explicitly to the authority of due process, Justice Frankfurter grounded his view of entrapment on values of fundamental fairness, principles of equality and "[p]ublic confidence in the fair and honorable administration of justice." 356 U.S. at 380, 383, 78 S.Ct. at 825, 826.

In another sharply divided opinion, the United States Supreme Court continued its internal argument

<u>15</u>

over objective and subjective entrapment. United States v. Russell, 411 U.S. 423, 93 S.Ct. 1637, 36 L.Ed.2d 366 (1973). There, an undercover agent provided the essential chemical ingredient for the defendant's production of methamphetamine. The investigation revealed that the defendant had previously been involved in the production of this drug. 411 U.S. at 425, 93 S.Ct. at 1639. In the Court again rejected Russell, objective entrapment. The Court further found that subjective entrapment constitutionally not rooted. was Following <u>Sorrells</u>, <u>Russell</u> held entrapment derives from a matter of statutory construction because could have intended criminal "Congress not punishment for a defendant who . . . was induced to commit [the crime] by the Government." 411 U.S. at 435, 93 S.Ct. at 1644. The Russell decision is also significant for the dictum that "we may some day be presented with a situation in which the conduct of law enforcement agents is so outrageous that due process principles would absolutely bar the

<u>16</u>

Government from invoking judicial processes." 411 U.S. at 431, 93 S.Ct. at 1643.

Foreclosed objective entrapment from an defense, the defendant in Hampton v. United States, 425 U.S. 484, 96 S.Ct. 1646, 48 L.Ed.2d 113 (1976), made a due process challenge to his conviction for sale to an agent of some heroin that had allegedly been obtained from a government informant. In a plurality opinion, Justice Rehnquist concluded the entrapment defense should never be available to a defendant who was predisposed. 425 U.S. at 489, 96 S.Ct. at 1649. Receding somewhat from Russell, Justice Rehnquist further opined that due process should not serve as a constitutional bar for overzealous governmental instigation of criminal activity. Justice Powell's concurrence in the judgment, joined by Justice Blackmun, recognized due process and the Court's "supervisory power" as viable limitations on police overinvolvement in criminal activity. 425 U.S. at 494, 96 S.Ct. at 1652. With the dissent of Justices Brennan, Stewart

<u>17</u>

and Marshall, a majority existed in <u>Russell</u> for a limitation as a matter of law on the egregious use of police-instigated criminal activity.

Most recently the United States Supreme Court has reversed the conviction of a Nebraska farmer for receipt of child pornography through the mail. Jacobson v. United States, U.S., 112 S.Ct. 1535, L.Ed.2d (1992). Despite the farmer's previous receipt of "Bare Boys" magazines and his response to a government questionnaire that he enjoyed preteen sexual materials, a majority of the Supreme Court found that the prosecution had failed as a matter of law to prove predisposition before government intervention. \_\_\_\_ U.S. at \_\_\_\_, 112 S.Ct. Referring back to Sorrells, Jacobson at 1541. reiterates that Congress did not intend abusive law enforcement investigative techniques when it enacted the child pornography laws. Finally, the Jacobson Court adds the following directive to the already muddled federal jurisprudence of entrapment:

when the Government's quest for convictions leads to the apprehension of an otherwise law-abiding citizen,

<u>18</u>

who, if left to his own devices, likely would have never run afoul of the law, the courts should intervene. \_\_\_\_U.S.\_\_, 112 S.Ct. at 1543.

In sum, despite 60 years of judicial effort, it is still hard to discern when one is entrapped in federal court. Nominally, subjective entrapment with its emphasis on the jury's factual findings as to predisposition remains the operative doctrine. Nevertheless, <u>Jacobson</u>, <u>Sherman</u>, and <u>Sorrells</u> all found entrapment as a matter of law and reversed findings of guilt by juries.

The statutory approach of <u>Sorrells</u> through <u>Jacobson</u> to the effect that Congress could not have intended its criminal statutes to be investigated in an abusive fashion is virtually useless as a predictive analytical tool. Although subjective entrapment remains the nominal form of entrapment in federal court, the <u>Jacobson</u> decision portends a greater willingness of federal courts to intervene as a matter of law. Furthermore, Supreme Court jurisprudence would also indicate the existence of an objective, fundamental fairness and due process

<u>19</u>

limitation on the governmental power to create criminal activity.

B. Entrapment in Other States

A survey of entrapment in other states reveals, predictably, a variety of approaches. By virtue of judicial pronouncement, legislative enactment or a combination of the two, the states have variously opted for subjective entrapment, objective entrapment or both. Many states follow subjective entrapment to the exclusion of a distinct objective entrapment defense. See, e.g., State v. Gasser, 223 Kan. 24, 574 P.2d 146 (1977). Other courts and legislatures adhere to the objective form of entrapment. See, e.g., Grossman v. State, 457 P.2d 226 (Alaska 1969); State v. Zaccaro, 154 V.t. 83, 574 A.2d 1256 (1990); State v. Kummer, 481 N.W.2d 437 (N.D. 1992) (under objective entrapment statute, "sound public policy reasons" dictate a per se rule of entrapment where police furnish the controlled substance); Tanner v. State, 566 So.2d 1246 (Miss.

<u>20</u>

1990) (objective entrapment in the form of official misconduct occurs where agents supply-and-buy); <u>People v. Barraza</u>, 23 Cal.3d 675 153 Cal. Rptr. 459, 591 P.2d 947 (1979) (entrapment is governmental conduct likely to induce a normally law-abiding person to commit a crime); <u>People v. Jamieson</u>, 436 Mich. 61, 461 N.W.2d 884 (1990); <u>People v. Juillet</u>, 439 Mich. 34, 475 N.W.2d 786 (1991).

In addition, several jurisdictions have explicitly recognized a hybrid approach in which elements of subjective and objective entrapment coexist. <u>State v. Johnson, A.2d</u> (N.J., May 13, 1992) (see appendix); <u>Cruz v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 516 (Fla), <u>cert. denied</u>, 473 U.S. 905, 105 S.Ct. 3527, 87 L.Ed.2d 652 (1985); <u>State v. Sheetz</u>, 825 P.2d 614 (N.M. App. 1991) (because "entrapment is uniquely a matter of state law . . . we believe we are free to adopt a hybrid approach").

<u>21</u>

C. The Law of Entrapment in the State of Florida

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