O.A. 10892 D. SID J. WHITE 8/

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERY SUPREME COURT

chief Deputy Clerk

MANUEL MUNOZ,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 78,900

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

LAURA RUSH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA HAR NO. 613959

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecuting authority and appellee in the tribunals below, and will be referred to herein as the State. Petitioner, Manuel Munoz, was the defendant and appellant in the proceedings below, and will be referred to herein as Petitioner. References to the record on appeal will be noted by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number(s). References to the transcript of proceedings will be noted by the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state accepts Petitioner's statement of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- The Florida Legislature abolished the objective I. entrapment test set forth in Cruz v. State, infra, when it The entrapment statute codifies enacted section 777.201. subjective test for entrapment by providing that the entrapment has occurred when the police methods used to obtain evidence of the commission of a crime involved "methods of persuasion or inducement which create substantial risk that such crime will be committed by a person other than one who is ready to commit it." statute places the burden on the defendant to prove that his criminal conduct occurred as a result of an entrapment, and that he was not predisposed to commit the crime.
- While the objective entrapment test under Cruz and address the same policy due entrapment process considerations, the two defenses are not equivalent and defense implicates coextensive. The due process constitutional concerns of fundamental fairness. Under a due process analysis, a defendant bears the burden to show that, under the totality of circumstances, the government involvement in the crime was outrageous, shocking to the universal sense of justice, intolerable or uncivilized. Thus, a successful due process claim must be predicated on government conduct which goes beyond that intolerable necessary to sustain an entrapment defense. United States v. Jannotti, infra.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER SECTION 777.201, FLORIDA STATUTES (1985) ABROGATED THE OBJECTIVE TEST FOR ENTRAPMENT SET FORTH IN CRUZ V. STATE, 465 So.2d 516 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 473 U.S. 905 (1985).

A. <u>Section 777.201 has abolished the Cruz objective</u> entrapment test.

The Florida Legislature in 1987 enacted Section 777.201, effective October 1, 1987. Ch. 87-243, s. 42, Laws of Florida. The statute provides as follows:

- (1) A law enforcement officer, a person in cooperation with a engaged enforcement officer, or a person acting as an agent of a law enforcement officer perpetuates an entrapment if, for the purpose of obtaining evidence of commission of a crime, he induces or encourages and, as a direct result, another person to engage causes conduct constituting such crime by employing methods of persuasion or inducement which create a substantial risk that such crime will be committed by a person other than one who is ready to commit it.
- (2) A person prosecuted for a crime shall be acquitted if he proves by a preponderance of the evidence that his criminal conduct occurred as a result of an entrapment. The issue of entrapment shall be tried by the trier of fact.

Prior to the 1987 enactment of Fla. Stat. §777.201, entrapment was a judicially created affirmative defense articulated by this Court in Cruz v. State, 465 So.2d 516 (Fla. 1985). In Cruz, Tampa police officers operated a

decoy operation in a high crime area. One officer posed as a drunken bum, leaning against a building with his face to the wall. One hundred and fifty dollars in currency was plainly visible from a rear pants pocket. Cruz happened upon the scene, approached the decoy officer, and then continued on his way. A short time later, Cruz returned to the scene and took the money from the decoy's pocket without harming him in any way. When Cruz was charged by information with grand theft, he moved to dismiss pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.190(c)(4), arguing that the arrest constituted entrapment as a matter of law.

This Court agreed with Cruz, holding that, under the facts of the case, the police activity constituted entrapment as a matter of law. This Court also enunciated an entrapment defense consisting of two independent and coexisting elements: A subjective test and a threshold objective test, which itself contains two elements. Id. at 522. In Gonzalez v. State, 517 So.2d 1346, 1349 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), the Third District explained the two elements of entrapment as follows:

The first element, the "traditional" or "subjective" standard, entrapment as "law enforcement conduct implants in the mind innocent person the disposition commit the alleged crime, and hence induces its commission. Under traditional formulation, this defense of entrapment is limited to defendants who were predisposed to commit the crime induced by government actions." Cruz v. State, 465 So.2d 516, 521 (Fla.), cert. denied, 473 U.S. 905 . . . (1985). The second, independent, "objective" standard for assessing entrapment recognized "when official conduct inducing crime is so egregious as to impugn the integrity of a court that permits a conviction, the predisposition of the defendant becomes irrelevant." Cruz, 465 So.2d at The subjective test focused on the predisposition of the defendant; the objective test focused on the conduct of the police and the proper uses governmental power.

Under the objective test, "[e]ntrapment has not occurred as a matter of law where police activity (1) has as its end the interruption of a specific ongoing criminal activity; and (2) utilizes means reasonably tailored to apprehend those involved in the ongoing criminal activity." Cruz, 465 So.2d The first prong of the objective test examined at 522. whether the "police activity seek[s] to prosecute crime where no such crime exists but for the police activity The second prong of the engendering the crime." Id. objective test addressed the problem of inappropriate techniques. Id.

Before the enactment of section 777.201, a defendant had the burden only of adducing evidence of entrapment, and once the trial court determined that the evidence was sufficient, the burden shifted to the state to disprove entrapment beyond a reasonable doubt. See Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) §3.04(c)(1) (1985) ("On the issue of

entrapment, the State must convince you beyond a reasonable defendant was not entrapped."). The that the threshold objective test required the state to establish revealed in that "police conduct initially whether particular case falls below standards, to which common feelings respond, for the proper use of governmental power." Cruz, 465 So.2d at 521 (quotation omitted). If the state established the validity of the police activity and thereby crossed over the objective test hurdle, the subjective test remained. However, the answer to whether the accused was an innocent person induced by government officials to commit the crime fell within the province of the jury. Id. Following the 1987 enactment of section 777.201, a standard jury instruction issued, placing the burden wholly on the defendant to show by a preponderance of the evidence that "his criminal conduct occurred as a result of an Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) $\S 3.04(c)(2)$ entrapment." (1987).

The Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal, in considering the effect of the 1987 enactment of section 777.201, have concluded that the new statute abolished the objective test articulated in Cruz. See Gonzalez, 571 So.2d at 1349; Krajewski v. State, 587 So.2d 1175 (4th DCA), quashed on other grounds, 16 F.L.W. S682 (Fla. Oct. 17, 1991). The Third District in Gonzalez found that the new

entrapment statute "codifies the subjective test providing that entrapment has occurred when the police methods used to obtain evidence of the commission of a crime involved 'methods of persuasion or inducement which create a substantial risk that such crime will be committed by a person other than one who is ready to commit it." 571 So.2d at 1349 (quoting Fla. Stat. § 777.201 (1987)). The court found support for its conclusion in the House of Representatives' Committee Criminal on Justice Analysis, June 27, 1987, at 177, which stated: "This section overrules the Florida Supreme Court's decision in Cruz v. State, 465 So.2d 516 (Fla. 1985), which held that the objective test of whether law enforcement conduct was impermissible was in the discretion of the trial court." Gonzalez, 571 So.2d at 1349; see also Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement on Crime Prevention, Bill No. CS/HB 1467 (May 22, 1987) (this section "[c]larifies that entrapment is an affirmative defense that would be available to a defendant who established to the trier of fact by a preponderance of the evidence that he was not predisposed to commit the offense now charged."). The Gonzalez court likewise stated: "Now, the defendant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that 'his criminal conduct occurred as a result of entrapment.'" 571 So.2d at 1350 (quoting Fla. Stat. § 777.201 (1987)).

In addition to the above-referenced statements of legislative intent, the language of the statute clearly implies that section 777.201 embodies the subjective test and abandons the objective test. For example, the statute unequivocally makes entrapment an issue to be "tried by the trier of fact," and places the burden wholly on the defendant to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that his criminal conduct occurred as a result of entrapment. Fla. Stat. § 777.201 (1987). While subsection (1) of the statute contains language relating to the second prong of the objective test in Cruz, nothing in the new statute articulated permits entrapment to be considered as a matter of law by the trial court, as required by the Cruz objective The Gonzalez court elaborated on this point:

> Subsection (1) of the entrapment statute appears, at first reading, to focus on the conduct of the police by providing that has occurred if entrapment the police conduct creates "substantial risk that such crime will be committed by a person other than one who is ready to commit However, subsection (2) makes it."

This second prong considers "whether a government agent 'induces or encourages another person to engage in conduct constituting such offense by either: (A) making knowingly false representations designed to induce the belief that such conduct is not prohibited; or (B) employing methods of persuasion or inducement which create a substantial risk that such an offense will be committed by persons other than those who are ready to commit it.' Model Penal Code s. 2.13 (1962)." Cruz, 465 So.2d at 522.

it clear that a defendant will be acquitted on ${ t the}$ basis entrapment only if he can prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that "his criminal conduct occurred as a result of an entrapment." The sole statutory test for entrapment is, therefore, the subjective test the whether defendant predisposed to commit the crime, or as the statute provides, whether the defendant was a person who was commit the crime." "ready to Subsection (1) appears to prevent a defendant from taking advantage of "coincidental improper police conduct." State v. Rockholt, 96 , 476 A.2d 1236, 570, N.J. 1241 (construing an entrapment statute similar to Florida's).

Gonzalez, 571 So.2d at 1349-50 n.3 (emphasis in original).

The Fourth District in Krajewski joined the Third District in concluding that section 777.201 abolished the Cruz test, remarking:

We align this court with the view expressed by the Third District in Gonzalez. We are persuaded to this view not only by the reasoning of opinion but also by language οf the new statute. Critical to our analysis interpretation is the use by the legislature of the term "cause." The objective test is not concerned with cause and effect. It examines only the action of law enforcement or its agencies, and whether that action is permissible rather than "outrageous." On the other hand, statute is concerned whether law enforcement activity causes a person to commit a crime. is entirely a subjective This matter.

587 So.2d at 1178 (emphasis in original).

In Strickland v. State, 588 So.2d 269 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), however, the Fourth District reversed the position it took in Krajewski for two reasons: (1) This Court said Cruz was alive and well in its State v. Hunter, 586 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1991), opinion; and (2) the Hunter Court said the objective entrapment aspects of Cruz are predicated on constitutional due process concerns which cannot be superceded by statutory enactments. The state submits that Strickland was wrongly decided based on two erroneous lines of reasoning.

First, this Court did not breathe new viability into Cruz in its Hunter decision. Instead, this Court simply found that Cruz applied on those facts. Critical to this Court's decision in Hunter was the fact that Hunter and Conklin committed their offenses in October 1982. Hunter, 586 So.2d at 323 (Barkett, J., concurring and dissenting). Because the offenses occurred long before the 1987 enactment of section 777.201, Cruz clearly applied. For this same reason, the Fourth District's recent decision in Ricardo v. State, 591 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), is similarly flawed.

Second, in <u>Cruz</u>, this Court noted the federal line of cases which "normally focus[] on the predisposition

of the defendant," i.e., the subjective view of entrapment. 465 So.2d at 518. While this Court agreed that the question of predisposition should always be a question of fact for the jury, this Court expressed grave concerns about "entrapment scenarios in which the innocent will succumb to temptation . . . " Id. at 519. For this reason, this Court "provid[ed] two independent methods of protection in entrapment cases," i.e., the subjective and objective doctrines.

"While the objective test parallels a due process founded on constitutional it is not analysis, Id. at 520 n.2. Thus, the Strickland principles." court's pronouncement that the legislature may not enact a version of section 777.201 which does not incorporate the objective view is unfounded. Further, "the legislature's omission of the objective test does not mean that the government is now free to pursue its law enforcement efforts in any manner it chooses." Gonzalez, 571 So.2d at 1350. After all, "the federal due process clause, which [Florida courts] obligated to enforce, [will] continue[] to mark the outer limits of permissible police conduct." Id.

The First District has consistently approved the reasoning of the <u>Gonzalez</u> and <u>Krajewski</u> courts. <u>See State v. Munoz</u>, 586 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); Simmons v. State, 590 So.2d 442 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)

(pending before this court in case number 75,286); State v. Pham, 17 F.L.W. D271 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 17, 1992). While the conclusions reached by the Third and Fourth Districts are compelling, the Second District has declined to find that section 777.201 abolished the objective test. See Beattie v. State, 17 F.L.W. D657 (Fla. 2d DCA March 6, 1992); Morales v. State, 17 F.L.W. D661 (Fla. 2d DCA March 4, 1992); Wilson v. State, 589 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); Bowser v. State, 555 So.2d 879 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989).

In summary, it is clear from the language of section 777.201, which makes entrapment a matter to be determined solely by the jury, the new standard jury instruction on entrapment, which places the burden wholly on the defendant to establish he was entrapped, and Florida House of Representatives and Senate staff analyses, which expressly state that the intent of the statute was to overrule Cruz and to make entrapment an affirmative defense available only to a defendant who is not predisposed, that section 777.201 abolished the defense of objective entrapment as a matter of law, as articulated in Cruz. In the absence of the Cruz objective entrapment defense, defendants may still seek dismissal of charges by asserting a constitutional due process claim which establishes outrageous government involvement in the crimes.

B. The Objective Entrapment and Due Process Entrapment Defenses are not Equivalent and Coextensive.

This court in <u>Cruz</u> first noted that while the objective test parallels a due process analysis, it is not founded on constitutional principles. 465 So. 2d at 520 n.2. In <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 586 So.2d 319, 322 (Fla. 1991), this court noted that the <u>Cruz</u> objective test included due process considerations.

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